STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PAUL HILDWIN (hereafter Hildwin) was charged by indictment in Hernando County with the first-degree murder of VRONZETTI COX (hereafter Cox)(R1133) $\frac{1}{}$. The Office of the Public Defender of the Fifth Judicial Circuit was initially appointed to represent Hildwin (R1140); that office later withdrew due to a conflict of interest caused by prior representation of potential witnesses (R1182-1183). Daniel Lewan, Esq. was appointed to represent Hildwin (R1184) in accordance with a previously existing contract (R1470-1473).

Trial commenced the week of August 25, 1986 in the Circuit Court for Hernando County, the Honorable L.R. Huffstetler, Jr. presiding. Defense counsel unsuccessfully

^{1/ (}R) refers to the record on appeal in this case, Supreme Court Case No. 69,513.

sought to have the state disclose the prior criminal records of its witnesses (R1243-44). A motion to have Section 921.141, Florida Statutes declared unconstitutional based on discriminatory application of the death penalty and lack of due process caused by improper treatment of aggravating circumstances was also denied (R190-191,1245-1247).

After the jury was accepted but before it was sworn defense counsel attempted to excuse prospective juror Potts because Potts had, during the overnight recess, observed Hildwin in handcuffs being led by deputies from the sheriff's van into the Hernando Courthouse (R203-210). Defense counsel had at that time used 8 of 10 peremptory challenges. The challenge to Potts was denied (R210).

Several <u>Richardson</u> $2^{/}$ inquiries were had concerning discovery violations. One such inquiry concerned photographs not viewed by defense counsel prior to their introduction at trial (R231-232,242,253-262); another concerned the testimony of an F.B.I. serologist who performed blood analysis comparisons on several articles of evidence (R592-608); a third hearing concerned the testimony of a witness not included on the state's witness list (R613-619). The court found at most inadvertent discovery violations, and defense counsel was given a three-day recess to consider the matters of which he was previously unaware (R607-608).

2/ State v. Richardson, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla.1971)

- 2 -

At the conclusion of the state's case defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, claiming insufficient proof of premeditation (R723-726). The motion was denied (R726). Hildwin testified (R752-768), as did several other defense witnesses. In rebuttal the state presented over objection the testimony of Jane Phifer, an investigator for the state attorney's office, concerning a statement allegedly made by the defendant (R858-867). Over objection, she was allowed to read into evidence notes that had been made without any showing of admissibility (R866). Following virtually objection-free closing arguments $\frac{3}{}$ (R929-989) the jury was instructed on the law of the case. The court refused defense counsel's request for an instruction concerning the maximum and minimum penalties (R919).

After retiring to deliberate, the jury issued the following question in writing: "The distance from his home to where the car was found." Written on the same sheet of paper is the answer, "You must rely on your memory of the testimony." (R1382). The jury was not brought back into the courtroom for the question to be answered in compliance with Fla.R.Crim.P.

^{3/} The only objection was made by defense counsel on the basis of argument outside the evidence; the objection was overruled (R938). Interestingly, the state's initial closing argument required eleven pages to transcribe, and the defense attorney's closing argument required fourteen pages to transcribe (R940--953). The court then recessed at 11:41 for dinner without objection (R955). When the proceedings reconvened at 1:15 the state's "rebuttal" argument required thirty-five pages to transcribe, and the subject matter of the argument covered physical exhibits and issues not addressed in the defense closing argument. (R955-989). See State v. Pettibone, 164 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1964). No objection was made.

3.410 and the record fails to show that notice of the question was given counsel for the parties (R1010). Following an hour and a half of deliberations, Hildwin was found guilty of first-degree murder (R1010-1011,1383).

The jury was allowed to go home overnight without objection and they returned the next day for the penalty phase. The state presented the testimony of five witnesses and introduced certified copies of Hildwin's prior New York convictions of first-degree rape (R1028) and attempted first-degree sodomy (R1029-1030). Testimony from Hildwin's Florida parole office established that at the time of Cox's murder Hildwin was on active parole from New York (R1022).

Defense counsel presented the testimony of the defendant (R1090-1095) and the defendant's girlfriend (R1048-1050), father (R1050-1056) and foster parents (R1095-1101). The state declined to cross-examine any of those witnesses. Thereafter, over objection, the state was allowed to present "rebuttal" testimony of a witness recounting the specifics of an assault and sexual battery allegedly committed on her by Hildwin that was never subject to prosecution (R1103-1113). Defense counsel requested instructions on two mitigating circumstances, those being the age of the defendant and any other aspect of the defendant's character (R1075-1076). The age instruction was disallowed (R1077). The jury deliberated for fifty minutes and

- 4 -

unanimously recommended that a sentence of death be imposed (R1126,1387).

Paul Hildwin was adjudicated guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced to death (R1403-1407). Judge Huffstetler entered a written order setting forth his findings of fact as required by Section 921.141(3), Florida Statutes. The court found four aggravating circumstances, to wit: 1) defendant previously convicted of felony involving threat of violence to a person; 2) the capital felony was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment; 3) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain, and; 4) the capital felony was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel. No mitigating circumstances were found to exist (R1394-1396).

The trial judge failed to address the mitigating evidence contained in records which the state requested be judicially noticed (1257-1314). The mitigating evidence presented by trial counsel concerned Hildwin's disrupted childhood (R1048-1099). A timely notice of appeal $\frac{4}{}$ was filed October 16, 1986 (R1425), and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Hildwin for the purpose of his appeal (R1427).

4/ An amended notice of appeal was filed October 27, 1986 (R1429).

- 5 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of September 8, 1985 Paul Hildwin, Helen Lucash, Billy Oehling and Cindy Wriston went in Hildwin's blue Chevrolet to a drive-in movie (R509-510). All of the group's money was spent for admission and snacks (R511). After the movie Hildwin took Bill Oehling home (R521,525). On the way to the girls' home the car ran out of gas in front of the Lone Star Bar; it was almost midnight (R511).

Several attempts were made to start the vehicle. Hildwin initially caught a ride to the "J.P. Mart" with a friend and exchanged some pop bottles for gas (R511). The small amount of gas he obtained was insufficient to start the engine (R512). They eventually gave up trying and slept in the car until morning (R522). Ms. Lucash awoke around 9:00 o'clock a.m.; Hildwin was absent (R512). He returned between 9:30 and 10:00 o'clock; he was cleaned up and had eaten; he stated he had been to his father's house (R513-514). He went to the Lone Star Bar to get assistance in starting his car. While there he purchased some sodas for the girls (R513). He told the bar's owner that he had a check to cash and would be back later to buy something; he also offered to sell the owner a radio (R530-532). After waiting for a supply man to arrive the bar owner took Hildwin to a store where Hildwin purchased \$2.00 worth of gas; it was 10:44 o'clock a.m. (R534-536). They returned to Hildwin's car and got it started; the girls were taken home (R514).

Four days later, on September 13, 1985, two men riding motorcycles through the woods discovered a 1984 brown Chevrolet

- 6 -

stuck in the mud at the edge of a lake (R235-241). The Hernando County Sheriff's Office was notified, and the nude body of Vronzettie Cox was found in the vehicle's trunk (R248-250). Α knit tee-shirt was tied tightly around Cox's neck (R280-281,295). A forensic pathologist determined that death had been caused by strangulation (R298). He opined that the rate of decomposition of the body was consistent with death having occurred on September 9, 1985 (R299). The doctor did not express an opinion as to how long it took Cox to lose consciousness or die; he testified that those two things depend on how tightly and how quickly a ligature around the neck is tightened, and that "it would be a fair range of minutes, depending on the pressure that was applied." (R297). The only injury to Cox was a broken bone in the larnyx, an injury consistent with strangulation, and superficial tearing of the skin under the ligature (R301-302).

Cox owned a brown, four-door 1984 Chevrolet Cavalier with a sun roof (R307). Her boyfriend (William Haverty) claimed to have last seen Cox between 8:30 and 9:00 o'clock a.m. on September 9, 1985 when she left in that car to do the laundry and cash a check (R306-308). A laundry bag found in the car contained, at the very top, a pair of cut-off blue jeans and, inside the blue jeans, ladies underpants (R684-685). Tests performed on the underpants disclosed semen from a person with secretor characteristics and A positive blood (R695-696). Hildwin and 11% of the white male population possess such traits (R695-696); Cox's boyfriend does not (R692). A hair found

- 7 -

inside Cox's automobile was consistent with Hildwin's hair (R642).

A teller at the First Savings Bank in Spring Hill identified Hildwin as the person who drove through the drive-in window between 12:30 and 1:00 o'clock on September 9, 1985 and cashed a check on Cox's account (R400-403). Information taken from Hildwin's driver's license was placed on the back of the check by the teller when it was cashed (R406). The car Hildwin was driving was described as being a brown Chevrolet with tail--lights similar to those of Cox's car (R407). Another witness recalled that the car driven by Hildwin at the bank had a sun roof (R423-424). Hildwin's car has no sun roof (R545).

Deputies contacted Hildwin because the check he cashed was the last transaction on Cox's account. Hildwin initially stated that his car had broken down on U.S. 19 and that Cox had picked him up just north of the J.P. Mart. He explained his situation and when he asked Cox for a loan she wrote him a check, giving him two weeks to pay the loan back (R388). Later during questioning he admitted that he forged the check, stating that Cox picked him up in the same manner but that they stopped at the J.P. Mart. Hildwin claimed that a white male known only as "Jeff" got into Cox's car as Hildwin exited; Cox went into the store. Hildwin asked Jeff for a loan and Jeff tore two blank checks out of Cox's checkbook, handed one to Hildwin and kept one for himself (R389-390,399). The last time Hildwin saw Cox she was driving off with Jeff (R391).

- 8 -

During questioning by the police Hildwin admitted having Cox's radio in his house, stating that Cox had given it to him to listen to while working on his car (R391). The radio was found in Hildwin's bedroom (R491). A pearl ring identified as Cox's was found in Hildwin's bedroom on the nightstand next to his bed (R489-490). Cox's purse, which contained a bra, was found in the woods a quarter mile from Hildwin's residence; Cox's shoes were found 500 feet from the purse in a direct line to Hildwin's home (R537-542).

Hildwin testified in his own behalf at trial. He admitted stealing the checks and ring from Cox's purse after she had picked him up near the J.P. Mart, and further admitted forging the check (R761). He stated that he had lied before because he did not want to be violated on parole (R768). Hildwin testified that Cox's boyfriend ("Haverty") was in the car with Cox when she picked him up, and that Cox and Haverty were fighting because she had been seeing other men (R757-759). Cox pulled off the main road onto a side road when Haverty tried to slap Cox; Hildwin, who was sitting in the rear, asked to be let out of the car. Cox stopped the car and Haverty ran around and pulled Cox out of the car and commenced beating her (R760). Hildwin started to intervene and Haverty swung at him (R761).

Hildwin walked on to his father's house. At that time Haverty was on top of Cox, holding her throat with one hand and hitting her with the other (R761-762).

- 9 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Point I</u>: A prospective juror observed Hildwin in handcuffs being dropped off at the courthouse by Hernando County deputies the day after that prospective juror had been selected to sit on the jury but before he had been sworn. Following a hearing, which produced evasive answers to questions about the incident, defense counsel challenged the juror. The challenge was disallowed. That ruling was error, in that a peremptory challenge can be exercised at any time prior to a jury being sworn. The ruling deprived the defendant of twelve impartial jurors, thereby circumventing his Constitutional right to a jury trial; for that reason the error cannot be considered harmless, and in any event it was not harmless. A new trial is required.

<u>Point II</u>: During the penalty phase the prosecutor, over objection, presented the testimony of a young woman claiming that Hildwin had previously raped her. Hildwin was never charged with that crime. The state presented the testimony ostensibly to rebut testimony concerning Hildwin's non-violent character. The testimony was inadmissible because it did not pertain to any statutory aggravating circumstance and it otherwise constituted improper rebuttal, since it is improper to present evidence of a specific incident to rebut the character trait of non-violence; proper rebuttal must be done through evidence concerning the defendant's reputation in the community for violence. The testimony was so prejudicial that a new penalty proceeding with a new jury is necessary.

- 10 -

<u>Point III</u>: During deliberations the jury asked in writing a question pertaining to the evidence presented at trial. The question was answered by the trial judge on the same piece of paper. The record does not show compliance with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.410 insofar as notice to the attorneys and open-court response. Further, the record does not show that the defendant was present or, conversely, that he knowingly waived his presence. The defendant was denied due process by such cavalier treatment of the jury inquiry. A new trial is required.

<u>Point IV</u>: Due process requires that the jury unanimously determine the defendant's guilt of the crime for the sentence imposed. If, in returning its verdict, the jury does not consider all of the statutory elements necessary to impose a particular sentence, that sentence cannot be imposed. A death penalty cannot be imposed without the existence of at least one statutory aggravating circumstance. Because the jury did not unanimously determine the presence of any aggravating circumstance, the death sentence must be vacated and a sentence of life imprisonment imposed.

<u>Point V</u>: The trial court refused to give the timely requested instruction on the maximum and minimum penalties. The instruction was mandated pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(a) and Section 918.10(1) Fla.Stat. (1985). Reversal is required.

- 11 -

<u>Point VI</u>: Over timely objection a state witness was permitted to read notes into evidence under the guise of direct examination. The witness' recollection was not shown to need refreshing, and the notes did not otherwise qualify for admission into evidence. The defendant was prejudiced due to the critical content of the notes and the falsely bolstered credibility of the witness' testimony that occurred from the improper procedure. Reversal of the conviction and retrial is necessary.

<u>Point VII</u>: The evidence of guilt in this case is wholly circumstantial. The proof fails to exclude reasonable hypotheses of innocence, and it is therefore legally insufficient. The conviction must accordingly be reversed. Alternatively, because the verdict form failed to specify whether the jury convicted Hildwin under a felony murder or a premeditated murder basis and because the jury was instructed on both theories, if the evidence is insufficient under either theory, the conviction must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial.

<u>Point VIII</u>: There is insufficient evidence to prove that the murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel manner. The only thing the evidence shows is that the victim was strangled with a knit shirt. This, alone, does not legally support finding the aggravating circumstance.

<u>Point IX</u>: There is insufficient evidence to prove that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. The testimony does not

- 12 -

establish when the victim died in relationship to the taking of her property. Speculation alone cannot support finding an aggravating circumstance.

<u>Point X</u>: Fundamental error occurred when the jury received instructions that reasonably misled them in performing their role in weighing factors used to recommend the appropriate sanction, in that the instruction was worded in a manner indicating that they were limited to only one mitigating circumstance to weigh against the aggravating circumstances. The role of the jury to recommend the appropriate sanction was undermined contrary to the Eighth Amendment. A new penalty proceeding with a new jury is required.

<u>Point XI</u>: Hildwin claimed that he last saw the victim in the company of William Haverty, thereby implying that Haverty committed the crime. In rebuttal, over objection, the state established that Haverty has no prior convictions and only four arrests for minor offenses. That testimony was used by the prosecutor during closing to improperly argue that Haverty was non-violent; Haverty's "good record" also improperly bolstered his credibility. The testimony and argument were prejudicial because they reasonably affected the jurys weighing of Haverty's character and credibility. Reversal and retrial is necessary.

<u>Point XII</u>: A defendant is entitled to information concerning the prior criminal convictions of state witnesses. The trial judge

- 13 -

refused to require the state to provide the defendant with the requested information. The defendant was prejudiced because he could not meaningfully impeach the representations of the witnesses concerning their prior criminal record. Reversal and retrial is required.

<u>POINT XIII</u>: The trial court failed to consider mitigating evidence that was contained in the court file when the defendant was sentenced to death. The court's findings do not reflect that the evidence was considered. Instead it appears that the evidence was clearly overlooked. The sentence accordingly must be reversed and the matter remanded for resentencing.

POINT I

REVERSIBLE ERROR OCCURRED WHERE THE TRIAL COURT REFUSED TO ALLOW DEFENSE COUNSEL, WITH TWO PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES REMAINING, TO CHALLENGE A JUROR PRIOR TO THAT JUROR BEING SWORN.

At the conclusion of the first day of trial twelve jurors and two alternates had been selected. They were told to return to the courthouse the next morning at ten o'clock and were given cautionary instructions. The next morning it was learned that prospective juror Potts had arrived early at the courthouse and observed the handcuffed defendant exiting a Hernando County Sheriff's transportation van. Potts was brought into the judge's chambers and questioned by the court and the attorneys with the defendant present. Potts admitted seeing the sheriff's deputies unload the defendant and lead him into the courthouse. He explained, "I was walking up from the parking lot when I saw them unloading. I turned around and walked back to the parking lot so I wouldn't be seen." He indicated that he had said nothing to the other prospective jurors, that he wasn't surprised to see the defendant so handled and that it did not indicate anything in particular to him (R204-209).

When Potts was excused from the judge's chambers defense counsel stated the following:

MR. LEWAN: Judge, at this time I would object to him continuing to be on the jury or being seated on the jury. It's well known that the van that he was brought over here in has the sheriff's markings on it. The state has already said that he was in handcuffs. I think that it clearly shows that he is incarcerated for this crime. I think it would bias Mr. Potts, could only bias Mr. Potts and make him unable to reach a fair and impartial verdict in this case. I would move to challenge him.

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