IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL CHRISTOPHER HILDWIN,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 69,513

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

SEP 8 1981  
J. C. [Signature]

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAULA C. COFFMAN  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue  
Fourth Floor  
Daytona Beach, FL 32014  
(904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point One: The trial court did not err by failing to disqualify a juror for cause on the basis of said juror's inadvertent observation of appellant in custody of the authorities during appellant's trial. Moreover, any error in this regard must be deemed harmless as a result of the failure of appellant to exhaust all peremptory challenges.

Point Two: The trial court did not err by admitting the presentation of penalty phase evidence rebutting the presentation of evidence offered by the appellant concerning his peaceful, non-violent nature. Any relevant evidence as to a defendant's character is admissible at sentencing. Moreover, because the subject evidence was not introduced in an attempt to prove the existence of a statutory aggravating circumstance, but rather to disprove the existence of a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance, any asserted error must be deemed harmless in light of the trial court's ultimate findings of fact in the instant case.

Point Three: The trial court did not commit reversible error in its disposition of a question propounded by the jury during the conviction phase of the appellant's trial. Even if the jury should have been returned to the courtroom for disposition of the jury inquiry, an in-court response was waived by defense counsel, thereby precluding the necessity of the appellant's presence during an in-chambers conference attended by counsel for the respective parties wherein the trial court's proposed response to the jury question was approved by appellant.

Point Four: Appellant's sentence of death was not

unconstitutionally imposed as a result of the failure of appellant's jury to unanimously determine the applicability of at least one statutory aggravating circumstance to appellant's crime; moreover, the instant claim of error was not properly preserved for appellate review. This court has previously held that a defendant possesses no constitutional right to be sentenced by a jury. Nevertheless, the jury's unanimous recommendation of death strongly suggests a unanimous agreement that at least one, although not necessarily the same, statutory aggravating circumstance which was not outweighed by circumstances in mitigation was applicable to the appellant's crime.

Point Five: No reversible error arising out of the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on the maximum and minimum penalties for the offense of first-degree murder has been demonstrated. This court has previously declined to predicate reversible error upon a trial court's failure to give such an instruction under circumstances where the jury has otherwise been advised of the applicable penalties. Because appellant's jury was clearly apprised by the trial court concerning the maximum and minimum penalties for a conviction for first-degree murder prior to the commencement of voir dire in the instant case, no reversible error with respect to this issue has been demonstrated.

Point Six: The trial court did not err by permitting a state's witness to refresh her memory while testifying concerning prior inconsistent statements made to her by the appellant. The witness was being asked to recall verbatim statements made by the



appellant, his victim, and an unidentified third party, some eight months prior to trial. Because the record affirmatively demonstrates that the witness possessed an independent recollection of the events upon which she was called to testify, admission of the subject testimony was proper.

Point Seven: Appellant's conviction for first-degree murder is supported by competent, substantial evidence based upon both theories of premeditation and felony murder. However, because it is clear from the offense charged and the state's presentation of its case at trial that the jury convicted appellant based upon a theory of premeditation, in the absence of any reasonable hypothesis of innocence presented by the appellant, appellant's conviction as charged should be affirmed by this court.

Point Eight: The trial court did not err by finding that the victim's murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. This court has repeatedly upheld the existence of the subject aggravating circumstance in cases where the murderer's **modus operandi** involves strangulation of the victim. Evidence adduced at trial established that the victim was acutely aware of her impending death. Moreover, circumstantial evidence strongly suggested that the victim spent the last few moments of her life as the unwilling sex partner of her killer. Finally, assuming **arguendo** that the subject aggravating circumstance was improperly found by the trial court in the instant case, such error was harmless at worst because a sentence of death is presumptively proper herein.

Point Nine: The trial court did not err by finding that the

victim's murder was motivated by the appellant's desire for pecuniary gain. Circumstances adduced at trial established the appellant's need to obtain quick cash in order to avoid parole revocation. Appellant was penniless immediately preceding the victim's murder; however, only a few hours after the victim's disappearance, appellant was in possession of "pocket money", a ring and a radio owned by the victim, as well as a check drawn on the victim's bank account which, by his own admission, had been forged by the appellant. Moreover, circumstantial evidence established that the appellant cashed the victim's forged check in the victim's car. Finally, assuming *arguendo* that the subject aggravating circumstance was improperly found by the trial court in the instant case, such error was harmless at worst because a sentence of death is presumptively proper herein.

Point Ten: The trial court's jury instruction during the penalty phase which substantially followed the standard jury instruction concerning the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances does not constitute reversible error in the absence of objection, especially where there is no record evidence that the jury was misled by such an instruction. The grammatical variance which forms the basis of the subject unpreserved claim of error requires this court's speculation that the jury merely counted aggravating and mitigating circumstances, as opposed to weighing them, in clear contravention of the other unambiguous instructions received by the jury. Because fundamental error has not been demonstrated, appellant is entitled to no relief with respect to this issue.

Point Eleven: The trial court did not err by permitting a state's witness to testify during rebuttal that he had no prior criminal convictions. In response to the defense claim that Haverty was a violent person capable both in terms of opportunity and predisposition of killing his girlfriend, Haverty was properly permitted to rebut the appellant's attempt to assail the character of the **appellant's** prime suspect in the victim's murder. By pointing an accusatory finger in the direction of Haverty, appellant opened the door to allow the witness to defend himself against the appellant's attempted depiction of Haverty as a violent drunk prone to jealous rage. Finally, any asserted error in this regard was harmless at worst since evidence adduced at trial established that Haverty could not have committed the murder of Vronzettie Cox.

Point Twelve: The trial court did not err by denying, in part, appellant's motion to disclose the criminal records of state's witnesses. This court has previously held that a defendant bears the initial burden of preparing his own case by attempting to discover the information requested to be supplied by the state. Because due diligence in the preparation of the appellant's own case has not been demonstrated and the requested information was not in the possession of the state in any event, appellant was not unfairly disadvantaged in the preparation of his defense herein.

Point Thirteen: The trial court did not err by failing to consider all the mitigating evidence presented on behalf of the appellant prior to imposition of appellant's sentence of death.

Significantly, the subject evidence alleged by appellant to have been overlooked by the trial court was presented on behalf of the state and not the appellant. Moreover, the record does not support appellant's contention that the subject information, whatever its probative value, was ignored by the trial court.

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO DISQUALIFY A JUROR FOR CAUSE ON THE BASIS OF SAID JUROR'S INADVERTENT OBSERVATION OF THE APPELLANT IN CUSTODY OF THE AUTHORITIES DURING APPELLANT'S TRIAL; MOREOVER, ANY ERROR IN THIS REGARD MUST BE DEEMED HARMLESS AS A RESULT OF THE FAILURE OF THE APPELLANT TO EXHAUST ALL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

Prior to addressing the merits of appellant's present assertion that the trial court's retention of Juror Potts on appellant's jury constitutes reversible error, the appellee would respectfully suggest that the argument advanced in appellant's brief is premised upon several erroneous characterizations and conclusions involving the appellant's challenge of Juror Potts. First, appellant insists that Potts actually observed the appellant in handcuffs as evidenced by Potts' "evasive responses" to questioning at the appellant's behest. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, pages 15-19. Second, the appellant presently characterizes his unsuccessful challenge of Juror Potts as an attempt on the part of defense counsel below to peremptorily backstrike said juror. Appellee must respectfully disagree with both premises.

The original basis for appellant's current claim of error was his assertion that Potts had observed appellant "in shackles" outside the courthouse immediately prior to commencement of the second day of trial (R 204). It was defense counsel's original concern that appellant's entire panel of jurors might have become tainted by such information in the event that Potts had

disregarded previous precautionary instructions (R 204). Following the state's suggestion that the juror be individually voir dired in order to avoid tainting the entire panel, and after inquiry concerning defense counsel's objective, defense counsel indicated that he was "...making a motion to disqualify [Potts]" (R 204). Defense counsel further stated that he would "...certainly welcome the court to inquire as to what the affect [sic] of seeing [his] client in shackles was and see if that would disqualify [Potts]" (R 204). At that time, the prosecutor indicated that the appellant was merely in handcuffs and not in shackles while being escorted into the courthouse during the incident in question (R 205). See, n.4, supra.

Subsequently, the following occurred in chambers:

THE COURT: All right. Before we bring the juror in, what in particular do you all want me to ask him?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: First of all, if he saw my client in handcuffs with the officer. I think if he did that would certainly indicate that he knows my client is in custody, which would prejudice and bias him. Secondly, I would like to know if he discussed that with any other jurors.

THE COURT: All right. Of course it's, I think, something of a legal fiction to assume the jury doesn't know that your client is in custody. But let's see what he has to say.

. . . .  
(WHEREUPON, Juror Potts was brought into chambers).

THE COURT: Mr. Potts, it's been brought to my attention that you

were here early this morning. Did you see Mr. Hildwin enter the courthouse earlier?

JUROR POTTS: Yes.

THE COURT: Would you tell me what you observed when you saw him?

JUROR POTTS: He just came out of the van and was just led into the courthouse.

THE COURT: Did you notice anything in particular about the manner in which he was dressed or led into the courthouse?

JUROR POTTS: No.

THE COURT: Have you mentioned to any of the other jurors that you saw him come into the courthouse?

JUROR POTTS: No, no.

. . . .

JUROR POTTS: I was walking up from the parking lot when I saw them unloading. I turned around and walked back to the parking lot so I wouldn't be seen.

[PROSECUTOR]: Maybe, Judge, the court would let counsel inquire about it but he has to be as careful as he wants to be.

THE COURT: [Defense counsel], do you have any questions you would like to ask Mr. Potts beyond what the court has? I have one other, was it any surprise to you that he was brought up here by the sheriff's department?

JUROR POTTS: No, no. The reason I was here early was to find a parking space. That's why I was walking up.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I would like to ask one question, Mr Potts. When you saw my client this morning, what

did that indicate to you?

JUROR POTTS: Nothing. Nothing in particular.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I don't have any other questions.

(R 206-208). At the conclusion of the inquiry, Potts was instructed by the trial court not to mention his observation of the method of transportation by which the appellant had arrived at the courthouse (R 208). The trial court was assured by Potts that the juror "...wouldn't mention anything about the trial" (R 208).

After Potts had been excused from chambers, defense counsel made the following objection to the juror's continued service on appellant's jury:

It's well known that that van that he was brought over here in has the sheriff's markings on it. The state has already said that he was in handcuffs. I think that it clearly shows that he is incarcerated for this crime. I think it would **bias** Mr. Potts, could only bias Mr. Potts and make him unable to reach a fair and impartial verdict in this case. I would **move to challenge** him (emphasis supplied).

(R 209). Following the state's argument that there was no indication that Potts could not follow his oath to be a fair and impartial juror or that he had done or said anything contrary to the court's instructions, the trial court made the following finding:

All right. Based on his own statement that he saw nothing unusual about the dress or demeanor of the defendant, which I think the only clear meaning which one could



give it was that **he did not observe that he was under any type of restraints**, I don't feel that either he as an individual juror or the panel has been tainted. I think, of course, it's common knowledge in Florida that persons charged with first degree murder are normally held without bond and would be in some type of custodial arrangement with the law enforcement agency. So I'll deny your **motion to disqualify the jury** (emphasis supplied).

(R 209-210).

Based upon the foregoing excerpts from the record on appeal, it is abundantly clear in appellee's view that defense counsel was attempting to challenge Juror Potts for **cause**.<sup>9</sup> Nevertheless, the argument presently advanced on appeal couches the alleged error in terms of the trial court's improper refusal to permit the **peremptory** challenge of Potts prior to the jury being sworn. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 16. To the extent that appellant is presently raising an issue which was not properly preserved for appellate review, since the trial court's alleged refusal to permit the backstriking of Potts was not announced as a basis for objection below, appellee would urge this court to refuse to address the instant claim of error. See, Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1985). Moreover, to whatever extent the instant claim of error has been properly

---

<sup>9</sup>A trial court's erroneous refusal to excuse a juror for cause is harmless unless all peremptory challenges of the complaining party have been exhausted. Nibert v. State, 12 F.L.W. 225 (Fla. May 7, 1987); Hill v. State, 477 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1985). At the time of the subject challenge, appellant had two peremptory challenges remaining (R 148).

preserved for appellate review, an attempt to backstrike a prospective juror must be made in order to preserve a claim that backstriking was improperly prohibited. See, Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986); Rivers v. State, 458 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1984).

Moving now to the merits of the instant claim of error, appellee would point out that a prospective juror is **presumed** to be impartial. Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985). Moreover, even the "...existence of a preconceived notion as to guilt or innocence is insufficient in and of itself to overcome such a presumption." Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d at 20. "The test for determining a juror's competency is whether that juror can lay aside any prejudice or bias and decide the case solely on the evidence presented and the instructions given. Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984); Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984)." Stano v. State, 473 So.2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985). In addition, the trial court's broad discretion in determining the competency of a prospective juror should not be disturbed upon appeal in the absence of manifest error. Hooper v. State, 476 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985); Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1985); Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984). In this regard, a trial court enjoys broad discretion in dealing with the conduct of jurors. Gore v. State, 475 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1985); Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1984).

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